


The past year has brought unprecedented growth and transformation for

REGAL-BELOIT. Late in 2004,  we acquired two business units from

General Electric Company (GE) that effectively doubled the size of our company,

and the positive impact was fully felt throughout 2005. Yet amidst the significant

changes taking place, each of our 19 brands remains strong and vital. Together,

they comprise the REGAL-BELOIT family of motion control products. This richly

diverse and complimentary product offering is one of our core strengths.

REGAL-BELOIT is a leading international manufacturer of electrical and

mechanical motion control components headquartered in Beloit, Wisconsin. From

electric motors and generators to gear reducers and electronic switchgear,

REGAL-BELOIT’s products are often concealed within, but essential to the 

function of so much of the equipment powering the world. That’s why we say our

products are “at the heart of what drives your world.” Our strength is in our 

market diversity as we serve an expansive array of industries including HVAC,

food processing, medical, material handling, petro-chemical, construction, 

manufacturing, agriculture and mining, to name a few. The company now 

operates 26 companies with over 50 manufacturing and service/distribution 

facilities throughout the United States and in Canada, Mexico, Europe and Asia.

MANY BRANDS, ONE COMPANY

ABOUT THE COMPANY
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Our Vision…
We will clearly distinguish our products 

and services as the best value to our 

customers, as measured by our customers.

We will maintain a sustainable, competitive

advantage through the excellence of our 

people and our processes – creating value 

for all our stakeholders.

Dear Shareholders, Employees and Associates

It is with genuine pleasure that we chronicle the 

achievements of the 11,000 people who make up 

REGAL-BELOIT. As we began 2005, we were an established

Company celebrating its 50th year, but we were also, in 

many respects, a new Company. In the latter half of 2004, 

we acquired General Electric’s (“GE”) commercial motors

business and HVAC motors and capacitors businesses. 

The acquisitions nearly doubled our size and simultaneously

presented us with both a daunting challenge and an 

incredible opportunity: the integration of the acquired 

operations with our legacy businesses. The integration has

gone better than we could have imagined.

Our financial achievements in 2005 were significant and are

reviewed later in this letter. As important as the numbers,

however, was the way your Company was strengthened by

the marriage of two winning cultures. The combining of

these winning cultures, the sharing of best practices, and 

the bringing of diverse experiences and viewpoints to the

decision-making process were exciting to watch and brought

benefits to every aspect of our business.

Recognizing that we were now a much different Company,

and to prepare ourselves for the next 50 years, our Board and

management undertook the difficult task of refreshing our

business vision, values and strategies. We worked through 

a disciplined process of looking at ourselves from the 

outside in and from the inside out. The experience was both 

humbling and exhilarating. Two main themes emerged from

this top-to-bottom reassessment: Our overriding objective

must be to continually improve shareholder value; and to do

that, we must maintain a clear and relentless focus on the

fundamental factors that drive shareholder value: people,

processes and customer centricity. We firmly believe that the

James L. Packard (Executive Chairman) and Henry W. Knueppel (Chief Executive Officer)
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only way to create a sustainable competitive enterprise is 

to attract and retain excellent people; establish dependable

and repeatable processes; and execute a customer-focused

strategy. As you read the remainder of this letter and review

this report, we hope that you see and feel the reasons, 

both quantitative and qualitative, for our excitement about 

the future.

People
The 11,000 people who make up REGAL-BELOIT span the

globe. More than half of our people live outside the United

States and bring a global perspective to our decision making.

To ensure that we have the people who can drive our

Company forward, we must attract talented individuals,

maintain an environment that rewards merit, and provide for

career development. To this end, we embarked on a number

of new initiatives during 2005. One was a new Business

Talent Review process, which will enable us to measure 

our employees’ performance and embodiment of Company 

values, and reward them accordingly. Further, the process

gives us the ability to proactively determine the human

resource needs of the Company; enhance the performance

skills of all employees and develop leadership talent; and

provide for succession planning across the Company.

Another people-linked initiative was the implementation of

new, state-of-the-art e-tools for exchanging information and

collaborating on projects. These tools bring our people closer

together, speed up learning and speed information flow

across the Company.

We also broke ground on a new corporate learning center at

our Beloit headquarters. With this facility, we are making a

significant commitment to continuous learning and human

resource development. The center will be a multipurpose

facility aimed at higher learning for both our customers 

and our people. While it will be just one part of our total

learning environment, it will play a significant role in the

development of our future face-to-face learning experiences.

Processes
Processes are the tools that allow talented people to 

create and maintain a sustainable competitive advantage.

Developing and deploying process improvements were

among our top priorities during 2005. We started the year

with a significant initiative built around Lean Six Sigma, 

a business improvement methodology aimed at the 

elimination of defects and waste. We selected some of the

best and brightest people from our business units, and we

provided them with intensive training in the Six Sigma

processes and tools. The participants were then required 

to complete projects that would, first, ensure that they 

understood the principles of Six Sigma, and, second, deliver

real benefits to the Company in the form of business 

process improvements, product quality improvements and

cost savings. By the end of 2005, we graduated five 

Master Black Belts, 41 Black Belts and 135 Green Belts. The

momentum continues to build—together, these Six Sigma

experts are now executing over 200 active projects. Lean Six

Sigma will be a journey for our Company, and we will not

have arrived until all of our employees, at every level of the

Company, can speak and understand its language. 

Our people are our most valuable asset. 

We will reward our people on merit and 

the embodiment of our values.

The new corporate learning center will be a state-of-the-art
training facility for employees and customers.
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As part of Lean Six Sigma, we implemented a disciplined

program planning process. This process targets new product

introductions and any other large cross-functional programs

which utilize extensive resources and from which we expect

a significant payback. We now have established throughout

the Company rigorous standards and procedures for large-

program execution; the goal is to maximize the returns on

shareholder investments in the Company.

We also launched a Long-Range Planning process in which

each business, once a year, takes an in-depth look at where its

products, its customers and its own technologies need to be

in the next three years. It is only by looking forward that we

can determine what future products to launch, what new

markets to pursue, and in which new technologies to invest.

All of these processes come together, through common

Company-wide metrics, to form the RBC Operating System.

This is a system which provides rhythm, discipline and 

a common understanding within our businesses. Our 

employees, no matter where in the world they are working,

no matter what business unit they are in, will know that 

they are all operating under one common system. The RBC

Operating System represents a triple win for our Company. 

It makes us a better business partner for our customers, a 

better workplace for our people, and a better investment for

our shareholders.

Customer-Focused Strategy
Customer centricity will be our guide in everything we 

do. This concept incorporates the following principles: we

win when our customers win; we must perfect our brand

promises in the eyes of our customers; we must create a total

customer experience that matches our brand promises; and

we must innovate to help our customers differentiate their

products. We are taking actions throughout the Company

that support these principles. We will measure our success

through our customers’ eyes and through the hard metric of

organic growth.

Financial Highlights
Sales for the year were $1.429 billion—an increase of 89%

from 2004—as our newly acquired businesses added $615

million to our strong sales base. Many of our businesses 

saw the return of strong market conditions and were able to

capture the opportunities presented. Our businesses also

were able to realize important sales gains from new products.

Although raw materials continued to pressure our cost 

structure, price increases and productivity gains mitigated

the impact. Through these actions and tight control over

We are focused on increasing the value 

we provide to our customers in every 

aspect of our business relationships.

Beginning in January 2005, the Company’s Lean Six Sigma 
initiatives have culminated in the graduation of these 34 Black Belts
and numerous others now executing over 200 active projects.
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operating expenses, we saw operating margins improve to

9.4% from the 7.3% reported for 2004. This was our highest

operating margin since before the 2001 recession. Net income

increased 129% to $69.6 million from $30.4 million in 2004.

Earnings per diluted share increased 84% to $2.25 from $1.22

in 2004.

Operating cash flow was a record $112.2 million. The strong

cash flow and the August 2005 stock offering allowed us 

to pay down a net $135.7 million of debt. Our debt-to-total

capital ratio now stands at 38.9%, down from 50.4% at the

end of 2004. We continued to invest in our business by 

spending $28.3 million for new capital equipment, but we

also received proceeds of $9.9 million from the sale of excess

property and equipment to improve our return on capital.

In January of 2005, we moved to the New York Stock

Exchange from the American Stock Exchange to improve 

the visibility and liquidity of our stock, and in August we 

completed a very successful stock offering. The offering 

consisted of 1.5 million newly issued shares, plus 4.6 million

shares that had been previously issued to GE as part of the

consideration for the HVAC acquisition. The proceeds we

received from the sale of the 1.5 million primary shares were

used to further pay down our debt. In the course of the stock

offering, we met with over 100 investors across North

America and greatly improved investor knowledge of

REGAL-BELOIT and our strategy. As a result of our financial

achievements and these actions, our stockholders were

rewarded with stock prices that were at all time highs. We

closed the year up 24% and up 62% for the last two years.

We are committed to profitably 

growing our business…to provide top 

tier total returns to our shareholders.

2005 2004
For the Year

Net Sales $ 1,428,707 $ 756,557

Net Income 69,557 30,435

Net Income as a Percentage 
of Net Sales 4.9% 4.0%

Per Share

Earnings Per Share 2.34 1.24

Earnings Per Share – 
Assuming Dilution 2.25 1.22

Dividends Declared .51 .48

Financial Highlights
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
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Leadership Transitions
Last year was marked by a number of significant transitions

within the Company. In April, I was honored when Jim

Packard, Chairman and CEO since 1986, passed to me the

CEO baton and its attendant responsibilities. Jim joined

REGAL-BELOIT in 1979 when the Company generated $38

million in sales by producing mainly specialty cutting tools

and specialty power transmission products. In his 26 years at

the Company, he steered it through two reinventions and 26

acquisitions, growing it into a $1.4 billion global organization

– great achievements by any standards. One share of stock

purchased for $8.50 when Jim joined the Company in 1979 is

today worth $358 (adjusted for stock splits). Jim’s legacy 

is one of strong leadership, solid values and competitive 

zeal. It is humbling to follow in his footsteps. We will 

forever be indebted to him for his vision and record of

accomplishments. In my 26 years at REGAL-BELOIT and 

33 total years of working with Jim, I have benefited 

immeasurably from his leadership and mentoring, and 

I am extremely fortunate to be the beneficiary of such a 

well-structured transition. Jim’s knowledge and counsel

have continued to be available to me from his position of

Executive Chairman. On behalf of the Board, our employees

and our shareholders, I want to thank Jim for his 

fantastic achievements.

Another important change last year was a reorganization 

to better align our businesses with the global nature of our

operations, the regulatory environment in which we live, 

and the need for disciplined processes in a geographically 

dispersed enterprise. A highlight of the organizational

changes was the promotion of Mark J. Gliebe to the position

of President and COO. Mark spent 22 years at GE prior to

joining REGAL-BELOIT, and the last six leading the GE

Motors business. In his first year with REGAL-BELOIT, 

he quickly proved to be a visionary leader with the depth,

stretch and discipline to help move REGAL-BELOIT to the

next level and beyond. Mark is an impact player and a 

pleasure to work with, and he is a major reason why I am so

excited about our Company’s future.

We were also extremely pleased to welcome two new 

members to our Board of Directors. Dean A. Foate is

President and CEO of Plexus Corporation, and Curtis W.

Stoelting is CEO, of RC2 Corporation. Both Mr. Foate 

and Mr. Stoelting have recorded impressive personal

achievements and significant business achievements at 

their respective public corporations. Both bring great skill

sets, global operating experience and solid values to our

already outstanding Board. We look forward to benefiting

from their experience and counsel.

Perhaps no one embodies the REGAL-BELOIT mission more than Executive
Chairman James L. Packard. It is our goal that Jim’s legacy of strong, energetic
leadership, solid values and integrity will continue for generations to come.
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Our Mission…
We will live our values, demonstrating

integrity in all our actions. We will

function with a high level of personal

energy, energizing those around us. We

will have the courage to make difficult

decisions and execute to accomplish 

our vision.

Outlook
As we look forward, we are optimistic about what the 

future holds for us. We will continue to face the challenge of 

high and uncertain material and energy costs, and we will

face sales challenges in our HVAC motor business. As we 

stated in recent earnings calls, this industry has overbuilt

inventories due to the 13 SEER energy legislation. This 

inventory will need to be liquidated as 2006 proceeds.

Further, since this inventory was built during the fourth

quarter of 2005 and first quarter of 2006, normally seasonal

slow quarters, we will face difficult comparisons in these

periods in the year ahead. Despite these headwinds, we are

confident that the legislated energy efficiency changes in 

the HVAC business bode well for us. We bring innovation,

efficiency, and user comfort differentiation to our customers,

and we believe we will be rewarded appropriately. We

believe that our industrial markets will remain strong and

that our pipeline of innovative new products will gain share.

With our first 50 years behind us, with our Company 

now doubled in size, and with our balance sheet in a 

comfortable zone, we anticipate a strong and exciting future.

We see a future where great ideas come from talented people

encouraged to innovate; a future where ideas are born by

internalizing the customers’ perspective; a future where 

all these ideas are implemented utilizing common, robust

business processes. We see a bright future where our talent,

tools and discipline ensure that we will continue delivering

shareholder value.

On behalf of all of our people, we appreciate your 

continuing support.

Sincerely,

Henry W. Knueppel
Chief Executive Officer

James L. Packard
Executive Chairman

Dave A. Barta (Chief Financial Officer), Henry W. Knueppel (Chief Executive Officer),

and Mark J. Gliebe (President and Chief Operating Officer)
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Customers – We can be successful

only when our customers are successful.

We succeed by meeting their needs and

exceeding their expectations. We are

focused on increasing the value we 

provide to our customers in every aspect

of our business relationships.

People – Our people are our most

valuable asset. We are committed to a safe

workplace that values diversity and

encourages our people’s total energy and

involvement in operating our business. We

will reward our people on merit and the

embodiment of our values.

Shareholders – Shareholders 

provide the capital that allows our 

existence. We are committed to profitably

growing our business, while expanding

operating margins and improving the 

utilization of capital to provide top tier

total returns to our shareholders.

Integrity – Integrity is the corner-

stone of all business and personal relation-

ships. As a company and as individuals,

we do the right things and never compro-

mise our values, always conducting our-

selves according to the highest standards.

Improvement – We are capable

of great things. No matter how good our

products, services, people, processes and

performance, we are dedicated to making

them better. We strive for excellence in

everything we do by being open to new

ideas and by approaching our daily work

with a passion for innovation and a desire

to learn and share that learning. 

Citizenship – We are called to give

of our time, our talent and our financial

resources to society and the communities

that make it possible for our enterprise to

exist. As a responsible corporate citizen,

we are also committed to being a leader in

protecting the environment. Through our

stewardship, we create value for all stake-

holders and preserve opportunities for

generations to follow.

We Value…

We will clearly distinguish our

products and services as the best value to our customers, 

as measured by our customers. We will maintain a 

sustainable, competitive advantage through the excellence

of our people and our processes – creating value for all 

our stakeholders.

We will live our values,

demonstrating integrity in all our actions. We will function

with a high level of personal energy, energizing those

around us. We will have the courage to make difficult 

decisions and execute to accomplish our vision.

Our Vision…Our Vision… Our Mission…Our Mission…
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• a commitment to increasing 
the value we provide 
customers, as measured by 
them.

• a focus on value-added 
technological innovation.

• a Lean Six Sigma process 
focused on improving every 
action and eliminating waste 
at all levels.

• a relentless focus on growth 
and a competitive zeal, aiming 
to increase earnings by double 
digits on average.

• businesses capable of 
profitable growth on a stand-
alone basis.

• financial strength protected by 
financial discipline, enabling 
us to take risks commensurate 
with rewards to capture 
attractive opportunities.

• a close watch on our overhead 
costs, but with a willingness 
to invest prudently in our 
infrastructure.

• bureaucracy is discouraged, 
entrepreneurial thinking is 
fostered, and decision making 
is streamlined by an “open-
door” management style.

• diversity is embraced.

• employees think and act like 
owners.

• people are promoted on their 
merits and are rewarded for 
their performance and for 
living our values.

• people treat each other with 
mutual respect and dignity.

• learning without boundaries is 
the norm.

• people are externally focused 
and internally driven.

• people truly feel that, no 
matter how large we grow, 
each one can make a 
difference.

• take the company personally. 
They care about each other, 
the quality of our products 
and services, and above all, 
their value to our customers 
and shareholders.

• are team players.

• lead by example, giving credit 
to others for success and 
assuming personal 
responsibility for failure.

• have a sense of urgency and 
excitement, demonstrate 
candor, insight and creativity, 
and thrive in an environment 
of change, challenge, and 
competition.

• are top performers and are 
committed to excellence in 
everything they do.

• exhibit uncompromised 
integrity and commitment to 
corporate values.

• externally focused, internally 
driven and values based.

• the first choice of where our 
customers want to do 
business.

• a company where the best 
people want to work.

• customer centered, providing 
unparalleled levels of service.

• an organization people can 
trust – doing what we say and 
reporting results with 
accuracy and objectivity.

• a company that provides 
consistent top-tier returns to 
its shareholders.

• a company dedicated to 
community service, making a 
positive difference in the 
communities where we live 
and work.

We are an economic
enterprise with…

We value a 
workplace where…

We value 
people who…

We aspire to be 
known as…

Who We Are…
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Five Year Historical Data
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net Sales $  1,428,707 $   756,557 $   619,098 $   605,292 $   663,571
Income from Operations 134,572 55,162 47,226 47,227 56,060
Net Income 69,557 30,435 25,206 24,518 19,590
Total Assets 1,342,554 1,352,052 734,445 733,988 746,599
Long-term Debt 386,332 547,350 195,677 222,812 345,667
Shareholders’ Investment 647,996 538,179 398,704 381,423 280,150
Per Share of Common Stock:

Earnings Per Share 2.34 1.24 1.01 1.01 .94
Earnings Per Share – Assuming Dilution 2.25 1.22 1.00 1.01 .93
Cash Dividends Declared .51 .48 .48 .48 .48
Shareholders Investment 21.84 21.87 15.93 15.24 13.42

Basic Average Shares Outstanding 29,675 24,603 25,030 24,187 20,869
Diluted Average Shares Outstanding 30,879 24,904 25,246 24,310 21,124

Common Stock
The Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par value (“Common Stock”), is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “RBC.” Prior to
January 21, 2005, the Company’s stock was traded on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol “RBC.” The following table sets forth the range
of high and low closing sales prices for the Common Stock for the period from January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2005.

2005 2004
Price Range Dividends Price Range Dividends

High Low Paid High Low Paid
1st Quarter $ 32.08 $ 27.69 $ .12 $ 23.20 $ 19.41 $ .12
2nd Quarter 29.41 25.25 .12 22.22 19.14 .12
3rd Quarter 33.70 28.15 .13 24.33 20.40 .12
4th Quarter 38.94 30.30 .13 29.38 23.13 .12

The Company has paid 182 consecutive quarterly dividends through January 2006. The number of registered holders of common stock as of 
December 31, 2005 was 742.

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Net Sales $ 337,823 $ 163,084 $ 368,768 $ 177,652 $ 345,894 $ 193,888 $ 376,222 $ 221,933
Gross Profit 68,444 38,187 79,800 40,841 76,598 42,944 85,922 45,088
Income from Operations 25,865 12,444 35,811 14,174 34,608 15,591 38,290 12,953 
Net Income 12,286 6,860 18,445 7,629 18,517 8,927 20,309 7,019
Earnings Per Share .42 .27 .63 .31 .62 .37 .66 .29
Earnings Per Share –

Assuming Dilution .41 .27 .62 .31 .59 .36 .63 .28
Average Number of 

Shares Outstanding 29,034 25,042 29,065 24,450 29,913 24,456 30,644 24,463
Average Number of Shares –

Assuming Dilution 30,244 25,278 29,720 24,677 31,234 24,725 32,317 24,937
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Overview
REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION seeks to deliver strong, 
consistent business results and superior shareholder returns by
providing value added products to our customers who serve the
commercial, industrial, and residential markets. 

To this end, we are focused on two product segments: Electrical
and Mechanical. Within these segments, we follow a closely
defined business strategy to develop and increase market leader-
ship positions in key product categories and improve financial
performance. On an ongoing basis, we focus on a variety of 
key indicators to monitor business performance. These indicators
include organic and total sales growth (including volume and
price components), market share, gross profit margin, operating
profit, net income and earnings per share; and measures to 
optimize the management of working capital, capital expendi-
tures, cash flow and return on capital. The monitoring of 
these indicators, as well as our corporate governance practices
(including the Company’s Code of Conduct), are used to ensure
that business health and strong internal controls are maintained.

To achieve our financial objectives, we are focused on initiatives
to drive and fund growth. We seek to capture significant oppor-
tunities for growth by identifying and meeting customer needs
within our core categories and identifying category expansion
opportunities. These product needs are met through extensive
product research and development efforts as well as through 
a disciplined acquisition strategy. Growth opportunities are
emphasized that offer stronger market growth potential as a
result of geographic based expansion or industry expansion. The
investments needed to fund our growth are developed through
continuous, corporate-wide initiatives to lower costs and increase
effective asset utilization. We also prioritize investments toward
higher return on capital businesses. 

Net Sales in 2005 increased, including the impact of the GE
Commercial AC and HVAC motor acquisitions in 2004, 89% to
$1.429 billion. Net income rose 128.5% to $69.6 million.

Given the continued competitive marketplace and high raw 
material and energy costs, we anticipate that the near-term 
operating environment will remain challenging. However, we
anticipate that the impact of new products, favorable federal 
energy legislation, and the impact of our Lean Six Sigma program
will provide additional funds for investment in support of key
categories and new product development while also supporting
an increased level of profitability.

Results of Operations
2005 versus 2004
Net Sales
Worldwide sales were $1.429 billion in 2005. Sales increased 89%
from the $756.6 million reported for 2004. The 2004 acquisitions 
of the Commercial AC motor and HVAC motor and capacitor
businesses from General Electric Company (GE) accounted for
$615.0 million of the increase. Also impacting sales was the
divestiture of the Illinois Gear business that was sold by the
Company in May of 2005. The sale of this business decreased 
sales by approximately $5.0 million for 2005.

Sales in the Electrical segment were $1.228 billion, up 120% from
2004, including the $615.0 million from the businesses acquired

from GE. Excluding the sales from the acquired businesses, 
sales increased 10%. Sales for the HVAC motor business were 
positively impacted by the convergence of several factors 
including hotter than normal weather and the increase in HVAC
system inventory levels in the OEM and distributor channels in
anticipation of the government legislated SEER 13 efficiency
requirement which was effective on January 23, 2006. We estimate
that this industry-wide volume increase favorably impacted our
sales by approximately $30 million in the fourth quarter of 2005.
We also saw strength in sales of commercial and industrial motors
that have benefited from overall economic strength.

Sales in the Mechanical segment grew 1% to $201.0 million. Sales
in this segment were reduced approximately $5.0 million as a
result of the sale of the Illinois Gear business in May of 2005.
Individual division results varied significantly with several 
divisions benefiting from the continued strength of the industrial
economy.

Gross Profit
Our gross profit margin was 21.8% in 2005 as compared to 22.1%
in 2004. The reduction in gross profit during 2005 resulted 
primarily from increases in raw material costs, particularly 
copper. The price of copper increased from approximately $1.40
per pound at the end of 2004 to over $2.00 per pound at the end
of 2005. The increase in material costs was only partially offset 
by price increases implemented in all of our channels and the 
benefits from productivity and Lean Six Sigma projects. The gross
profit margin for the Electrical segment reflected these impacts
and decreased to 21.4% from 21.7% in 2004. Mechanical segment
gross profit margin increased from 23.2% in 2004 to 23.7% 
primarily as a result of net benefits from plant consolidations and
productivity projects.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses as a percentage of sales were 12.3% in 2005 as
compared to 14.8% in 2004. The decrease in operating expense as
a percent of sales results from leveraging of fixed costs on the
higher sales levels. Additionally, the HVAC and CAC businesses
operate with a lower operating expense structure due, in part, to
the concentration of sales with their large OEM customer base.
Electrical segment operating expenses decreased to 11.8% of sales
from 15.3% of sales in 2004 as a result of these factors. Mechanical
operating expenses as a percent of sales increased from 15.0% in
2004 to 15.6% in 2005.

Income from Operations (Operating Profit)
In 2005, operating profit increased 143.8% to $134.6 million from
the $55.2 million reported in 2004. As a percent of sales, operating
profit increased to 9.4% of sales for 2005 from 7.3% in 2004.
Electrical segment income from operations increased 200.8% in
2005 to $118.5 million from $39.4 million in 2004, and operating
income margin increased to 9.7% in 2005 from 7.1% in 2004. The
contributions from the 2004 acquisitions of GE’s HVAC and CAC
businesses, price increases, favorable volume impacts, and the
operating expense fixed cost leveraging and productivity were
the main drivers of the improved performance. Electrical
Segment operating profit was negatively impacted by increases in
raw material costs, particularly copper and aluminum.
Mechanical segment income from operations increased 1.9% to
$16.0 million in 2005 from $15.7 million in 2004. The Mechanical
segment operating income margin for 2005 improved to 8.0%

Unless the context requires otherwise, references below to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” refer collectively to REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION and its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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from 7.9% in 2004. The results of the Mechanical segment reflect
the positive impacts of increased volume and price increases, 
partially offset by increases in raw material costs and the non-
repeat of the 2004 sale of property located in the United Kingdom
($1.5 million pretax).

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net was $21.6 million in 2005 compared with
$6.6 million in 2004. Higher interest rates and higher average 
debt levels, due primarily to debt incurred as a result of the
HVAC and CAC acquisitions, have resulted in increased interest
expense in 2005. The average interest rate paid under the
Company’s revolving credit facility was 4.7% in 2005 and 2.7% 
in 2004. The average balance outstanding under the Facility in
2005 was $395,969,000 and in 2004 was $150,596,000.

Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for 2005 was 35.3% compared 
with 32.4% in 2004. The increase to the effective rate was 
primarily due to the one-time realization of benefits in 2004 for
the resolution of tax audits. The 2005 effective rate reflected a 
benefit of approximately .5% attributable to the Domestic
Production Activities Deduction that was incorporated in the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. (See also Note 9 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Net Income
Net income was $69.6 million in 2005 or $2.25 per share on a 
diluted basis compared with $30.4 million in 2004 or $1.22 
per share.

2004 versus 2003
Net Sales
Our net sales were $756.6 million in 2004, a 22.2% increase 
from $619.1 million in 2003. Excluding the sales impact from the
acquisition of the CAC business, sales increased 13.5%. The
increase in sales was driven by strong demand in the majority of
our markets. Sales in the Electrical segment increased 27.1% to
$557.0 million. Excluding the sales from the CAC business, sales
in the Electrical segment were $503.3 million, an increase of 14.8%
over 2003. Sales for the joint ventures that the Company owned
for the entire year, which are included in the Electrical segment,
increased $10.7 million, or 53% over 2003. Sales in our Mechanical
segment were $199.6 million, which was an increase of 10.4% 
over 2003. Sales in both segments were positively impacted 
by improved consumer and business spending and the price
increases implemented by the Company during 2004.

Gross Profit
Our gross profit was $167.1 million, an increase of 13.8% over the
$146.8 million reported in 2003. As a percent of sales, gross profit
was 22.1% as compared to 23.7% in 2003. The increase in raw
material costs drove this decrease, as price increases and our
implemented productivity actions only partially offset the
increased costs.

Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses in 2004 were $111.9 million, 12.4% above
$99.5 million in 2003. The increase was primarily driven by the
sales and distribution costs driven by the sales volume increase.
Operating expenses as a percentage of sales decreased to 14.8% 

in 2004 from 16.1% in 2003, reflecting fixed cost leverage and 
productivity.

Income from Operations (Operating Profit)
Income from operations was $55.2 million, an increase of 16.8%
over the $47.2 million reported in 2003. Income from operations as
a percentage of sales (“operating income margin”) was 7.3% in
2004 versus 7.6% in 2003. Electrical segment income from opera-
tions increased 16.4% in 2004 to $39.4 million from $33.9 million
in 2003, and operating income margin decreased to 7.1% in 2004
from 7.7% in 2003. The impact of the raw material cost increases
coupled with an increase in healthcare costs for employees 
were the primary drivers of this decrease. These factors were 
partially offset by price increases, favorable volume impacts, and
the operating expense fixed cost leveraging and productivity.
Mechanical segment income from operations increased 17.8% to
$15.7 million in 2004 from $13.3 million in 2003. The Mechanical
segment operating income margin for 2004 improved to 7.9%
from 7.4% in 2003. The results of the Mechanical segment reflect
the positive impacts of increased volume, price increases, and the
3rd quarter gain on the sale of property located in the U.K. ($1.5
million pretax), partially offset by raw material cost increases.

Interest Expense, Net
Our net interest expense in 2004 was $6.6 million, which was an
increase of 3.5% over the $6.4 million in 2003. This increase was
due to a slightly increased balance of average debt outstanding.
The average interest rate we paid on outstanding debt in 2004 was
2.7% which was unchanged from the 2.7% average in 2003. 

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate on income before taxes decreased to 32.4%
in 2004 from 36.2% in 2003, including tax effects of the minority
interest. This decrease was due primarily to the impact of the
favorable resolution of several tax matters recorded in the 
fourth quarter ($1.4 million) and the favorable tax treatment of 
the third quarter gain on the sale of property located in the U.K 
($.5 million).

Net Income
Our 2004 net income of $30.4 million improved 20.7% from the
$25.2 million in 2003. Net income as a percentage of sales was
4.0% versus 4.1% in 2003. Basic earnings per share was $1.24 in
2004, a 22.8% increase from $1.01 in 2003. Fully diluted earnings
per share was $1.22, a 22.0% increase from $1.00 in 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our working capital was $268.5 million at December 31, 2005, a
decrease of 4.0% from $279.7 million at year-end 2004. The $11.2
million decrease was due primarily to a $28.4 million reduction in
inventories and a $23.5 million reduction in accounts payable
during 2005, partially offset by a $25.0 million increase in short-
term commercial paper borrowings initiated in December 2005.
The inventory decrease reflected improved turnover and ship-
ments above expectations in the fourth quarter of 2005. The
accounts payable reduction was due primarily to one-time 
payments to GE in 2005 of payables acquired as a part of the 2004
acquisitions and included in the December 31, 2004 accounts
payable balance. Additionally, theses accounts were impacted 
by the Final GE Purchase Price Settlement and Final Purchase
Accounting Allocations. Our current ratio, the ratio of our current
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assets to current liabilities, at December 31, 2005 decreased to
2.2:1 from 2.4:1 from the previous year-end.

Cash flow provided by operating activities (“operating cash
flow”) was $112.2 million in 2005, a 193.7% increase from 2004.
Increased net income of $39.1 million and a $44.9 million increase
in cash flow generated from inventory changes (a $16.5 million
use of cash in 2004 versus a $28.4 million of cash provided in
2005) were the major factors in the operating cash flow improve-
ment in 2005. Cash flow used in investing activities was $11.8 
million in 2005, a fraction of the $338.5 million in 2004. The large
decrease was due to the $327.9 million of cash invested in our
2004 acquisitions from GE, of which $12.0 million was repaid to
the Company in 2005 as a result of the Final GE Purchase Price
Settlement. Capital spending increased to $28.3 million in 2005
from $16.3 million a year earlier. In 2005, we received $9.9 million
from sales of surplus assets, primarily vacant facilities. Such 
sales were up from $5.9 million in 2004. Our commitments for
property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2005 were
approximately $9.8 million. We believe that our present facilities,
augmented by planned capital expenditures, are sufficient to 
provide adequate capacity for our operations in 2006.

Cash flow used in financing activities was $98.1 million in 2005
following $322.4 million provided from financing activities in
2004. Our strong operating cash flow coupled with net proceeds
from our stock offering in August 2005 enabled us to reduce our
total debt outstanding by 24.8% to $412.0 million at December 31,
2005 from $547.6 million at year-end 2004, a reduction of $135.6
million. We received $43.7 million of net proceeds from the sale of
1,530,321 primary shares of common stock issued by the
Company. Additionally, we received $9.3 million from GE’s net
proceeds from the sale in the same August offering of all 4,559,048
shares GE received from us on December 31, 2004 as part of the
acquisition purchase price of GE’s HVAC motors and capacitors
business. The $9.3 million was paid by GE to us under a share-
holder agreement between GE and the Company filed with our
Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 6, 2005. We paid $14.7
million in dividends to shareholders in 2005, with our quarterly
dividend increasing from $.12 to $.13 per share starting with the
July 2005 dividend payment. In December 2005, we initiated
short-term borrowings through a $35.0 million unsecured 
commercial paper facility with one of our banks. In December
2005, we commenced the short-term borrowings with $25.0 
million of commercial paper, all of which was outstanding at
December 31, 2005, and repaid a like amount of debt outstanding
under the Facility described below. (See also Note 5 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Our primary financing source is our $475 million long-term 
unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) that terminates
on May 5, 2009. The Company has the option to increase the
Facility up to $550 million subject to achievement of certain
approvals and covenants. The Facility requires us to maintain
specified financial ratios and to satisfy certain financial condition
tests. We were in compliance with all of these ratios and tests as
of December 31, 2005. The tests consist of a minimum interest 
coverage ratio of 3.75 to 1, a maximum funded debt to EBITDA
(earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)
ratio of 4.00 to 1 and a maximum senior funded debt to EBITDA
ratio of 3.00 to 1, both of which reduce to 3.75 to 1 and to 2.75 to
1, respectively, at December 31, 2006, and a minimum net worth

consisting of the sum of $435 million plus 50% of net income for
each quarter ending on or after March 31, 2005 plus 75% of the net
proceeds of all issuances of equity securities by the Company. 
At year-end 2005, we had $175.8 million of available borrowing
capacity. We believe we will satisfy the Facility’s financial 
ratios and tests for the foreseeable future. We further believe that
the combination of our operating cash flow and borrowing 
availability under the Facility will provide sufficient cash flow to
finance our existing operations for the foreseeable future. (See
also Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on certain of its
short-term and long-term debt obligations used to finance our
operations and acquisitions. At December 31, 2005 we had $141.5
million of fixed rate debt and $270.5 million of variable rate debt,
the latter subject to interest rate risk. The variable rate debt is 
primarily under a credit facility with an interest rate based on a
margin above LIBOR. As a result, interest rate changes impact
future earnings and cash flow assuming other factors are 
constant. A hypothetical 10% change in our weighted average
borrowing rate on outstanding variable rate debt at December 31,
2005 would result in a change in after-tax annualized earnings of
approximately $700,000.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual
Obligations and Commercial Commitments 
The following is a summary of the Company’s contractual 
obligations and payments due by period as of December 31, 2005 
(in thousands): 

Debt Including Purchase Total
Payments Due Estimated* Operating and Other Contractual

By Period Interest Payments Leases Obligations Obligations
Less Than 1 Year $ 40,738 $ 6,170 $ 77,198 $ 124,106
1-3 Years 31,475 10,139 4,840 46,454
3-5 Years 380,371 3,989 3,578 387,938
More Than 5 Years 3,450 3,234 6,757 13,441
Total $ 456,034 $ 23,532 $ 92,373 $ 571,939

*Variable rate debt based on December 31, 2005 rates.

We utilize blanket purchase orders (“blankets”) to communicate
expected annual requirements to many of our suppliers.
Requirements under blankets generally do not become “firm”
until a varying number of weeks before our scheduled 
production. The purchase obligations shown in the above table
represent the value we consider “firm”.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding standby 
letters of credit totaling $6,902,000, $52,000 of which expires 
in 2007; the balance expires in 2006. We had no other material
commercial commitments.

The Company did not have any variable interest entities as of
December 31, 2005. Other than disclosed in the table above and
the previous paragraph, the Company had no other material 
off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of title, which
generally occurs upon shipment of the product to the customer.
The pricing of products sold is generally supported by customer

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
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purchase orders, and accounts receivable collection is reasonably
assured at the time of shipment. Estimated discounts and rebates
are recorded as a reduction of sales in the same period revenue 
is recognized. Product returns and credits are estimated and
recorded at the time of shipment based upon historical 
experience. Shipping and handling costs are recorded as revenue
when billed to the customers.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” goodwill is not amortized; however it is 
tested for impairment at least annually and with any resulting
adjustment charged to the results of operations. Amortization 
is recorded for intangible assets with definite lives. (See Note 
3, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.)

Retirement Plans 
Approximately half of our domestic employees are covered by
defined benefit pension plans with the remaining employees 
covered by defined contribution plans. Most of our foreign
employees are covered by government sponsored plans in the
countries in which they are employed. Our obligations under our
domestic defined benefit plans are determined with the assistance
of actuarial firms. The actuaries make certain assumptions
regarding such factors as withdrawal rates and mortality rates.
The actuaries also provide us with information and recommenda-
tions from which management makes further assumptions on
such factors as the long-term expected rate of return on 
plan assets, the discount rate on benefit obligations and where
applicable, the rate of annual compensation increases. Based
upon the assumptions made, the investments made by the 
plans, overall conditions and movement in financial markets, 
particularly the stock market and how actual withdrawal rates,
life-spans of benefit recipients and other factors differ from
assumptions, annual expenses and recorded assets or liabilities of
these defined benefit plans may change significantly from year to
year. Based on our annual review of actuarial assumptions as well
as historical rates of return on plan assets and existing long-term
bond rates, we set the long-term rate of return on plan assets at
8.75% and the discount rate at 5.75% for our defined benefit plans
as of December 31, 2005. (See also Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements).

Further discussion of the Company’s accounting policies is 
contained in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. The preparation of our consolidated financial state-

ments in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates on 
historical experience and on other assumptions that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS
123(R)”), which requires companies to expense the value of
employee stock options and similar awards. This Statement is 
a revision of FASB Statement No. 123(R), “Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation”. This Statement supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. The 
incremental share-based compensation expense under SFAS
123(R) is estimated to be in the range of $.05 to $.10 per share in
2006, including options granted in January of 2006. The ultimate
impact of adopting SFAS 123(R) on 2006’s results of operations
and financial position will depend upon many factors including
the level of stock-based compensation granted in 2006, the fair
value of those options which will be determined at the date of
grant, the related tax benefits recorded and the diluted shares 
outstanding. The Company has adopted the provisions of the
new standard using the modified prospective method and using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model effective January 1, 2006.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs,” an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. The amend-
ments made by SFAS No. 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of
idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted materials
(spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and
require the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory
based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The 
pronouncement is effective for inventory costs incurred during
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application 
is permitted for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after November 23, 2004. The adoption of this 
pronouncement is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT – The following is a cautionary statement made under the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: With the exception of historical facts, the state-
ments contained in this Annual Report on Form 10 K or incorporated by reference may be forward
looking statements. Forward-looking statements represent our management’s judgment regarding
future events. In many cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “plan,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “predict,” “intend,”
“potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other words of similar import, although
some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. We cannot guarantee the accuracy of the
forward-looking statements, and you should be aware that results and events could differ materially
and adversely from those contained in the forward-looking statements due to a number of factors,
including:
• unexpected issues and costs arising from the integration of acquired companies and businesses, such

as our acquisitions of the HVAC motors and capacitors businesses and the Commercial AC motors
business from General Electric Company (“GE”) in 2004;

• marketplace acceptance of acquisitions, including the loss of, or a decline in business from, any 
significant customers;

• unanticipated fluctuations in commodity prices and raw material costs and issues affecting our 
ability to pass increased costs on to our customers; 

• cyclical downturns affecting the markets for capital goods;
• substantial increases in interest rates that impact the cost of our outstanding debt;
• the success of our management in increasing sales and maintaining or improving the operating 

margins of our businesses;
• actions taken by our competitors;
• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;
• our ability to satisfy various covenant requirements under our credit facility; and
• other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in our reports filed with U.S. Securities

and Exchange Commission, which are incorporated by reference.
All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or to persons acting 
on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the applicable cautionary statements. The 
forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made only as of their
respective dates, and we undertake no obligation to update these statements to reflect subsequent
events or circumstances.
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Assets December 31,
2005 2004

Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 32,747 $ 31,275
Receivables, Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts of

$2,653 in 2005 and $2,376 in 2004 197,118 176,941
Inventories 224,316 246,816
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 16,121 13,394
Future Income Tax Benefits 16,978 6,493

Total Current Assets 487,280 474,919
Property, Plant and Equipment:

Land and Improvements 18,624 19,026
Buildings and Improvements 100,036 104,460
Machinery and Equipment 336,171 335,307

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost 454,831 458,793
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (210,502) ( 205,120)

Net Property, Plant and Equipment 244,329 253,673
Goodwill 546,168 544,440
Purchased Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization 45,674 52,058
Other Noncurrent Assets 19,103 26,962
Total Assets $ 1,342,554 $ 1,352,052

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $ 82,513 $ 106,374
Commercial Paper Borrowings 25,000 —
Dividends Payable 3,985 3,483
Accrued Compensation and Employee Benefits 41,127 30,256
Other Accrued Expenses 46,559 44,094
Income Taxes Payable 18,923 10,731
Current Maturities of Long-term Debt 684 271

Total Current Liabilities 218,791 195,209

Long-term Debt 386,332 547,350
Deferred Income Taxes 59,993 48,663
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 18,394 17,359

Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries 11,048 5,292

Shareholders’ Investment:
Common Stock, $.01 Par Value, 50,000,000 Shares Authorized, 31,429,736 Issued

in 2005 and 29,798,188 Issued in 2004 315 298
Additional Paid-in Capital 316,426 263,790
Less: Treasury Stock, at Cost, 774,100 Shares in 2005 and 2004 (15,228) ( 15,228)
Retained Earnings 343,161 288,837
Unearned Compensation (657) (224)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 3,979 706

Total Shareholders’ Investment 647,996 538,179
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment $ 1,342,554 $ 1,352,052

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In Thousands of Dollars, Except Share Information

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For The Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Net Sales $ 1,428,707 $ 756,557 $ 619,098
Cost of Sales 1,117,943 589,497 472,343

Gross Profit 310,764 167,060 146,755
Operating Expenses 176,192 111,898 99,529

Income From Operations 134,572 55,162 47,226
Interest Expense 22,090 6,787 6,462
Interest Income 442 183 79

Income before Income Taxes and Minority Interest 112,924 48,558 40,843
Provision for Income Taxes 39,829 15,728 14,792

Income before Minority Interest 73,095 32,830 26,051
Minority Interest in Income, Net of Tax 3,538 2,395 845

Net Income $ 69,557 $ 30,435 $ 25,206
Per Share of Common Stock:

Earnings Per Share - Basic $ 2.34 $ 1.24 $ 1.01
Earnings Per Share - Assuming Dilution $ 2.25 $ 1.22 $ 1.00

Average Number of Shares Outstanding - Basic 29,675,206 24,602,868 25,029,942

Average Number of Shares Outstanding - Assuming Dilution 30,878,981 24,904,287 25,246,088

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accumulated
Compre– Common Additional Other Comp.
hensive Stock Paid-In Treasury Retained Unearned Income
Income $.01 Par Value Capital Stock Earnings Compensation (Loss) Total

Balance, December 31, 2002 $ 250 $ 132,167 $ (2,727) $257,570 $ — $ (5,837) $ 381,423
Net Income $ 25,206 — — — 25,206 — — 25,206
Dividends Declared ($.48 per share) — — — (12,016) — — (12,016)
Translation Adjustments 4,111 — — — — — 4,111 4,111
Change in Fair Value of Hedging

Activities, Net of Tax 160 — — — — — 160 160
Hedging Activities Reclassified into Earnings

from Other Comprehensive Income — — — — — — — —
Additional Pension Liability, Net of Tax (326) — — — — — (326) (326)
Comprehensive Income $ 29,151
Stock Options Exercised — 146 — — — —

Balance, December 31, 2003 250 132,313 (2,727) 270,760 — (1,892) 398,704
Net Income $ 30,435 — — — 30,435 — — 30,435
Dividends Declared ($.48 per share) — — — (12,358) — — (12,358)
Translation Adjustments 2,903 — — — — — 2,903 2,903
Change in Fair Value of Hedging

Activities, Net of Tax 864 — — — — — 864 864
Hedging Activities Reclassified into Earnings

from Other Comprehensive Income (511) — — — — — (511) (511)
Additional Pension Liability, Net of Tax (658) — — — — — (658) (658)
Comprehensive Income $ 33,033
Unearned Compensation, Net of Amort. — 288 — — (224) — 64
Stock Issued for Acquisition 46 130,343 — — — — 130,389
Common Stock Repurchased — — (12,501) — — — (12,501)
Stock Options Exercised 2 846 — — — — 848

Balance, December 31, 2004 298 263,790 (15,228) 288,837 288,837 706 538,179
Net Income $ 69,557 — — — 69,557 69,557 — 69,557
Dividends Declared ($.51 per share) — — — (15,233) (15,233) — (15,233)
Translation Adjustments (629) — — — — — (629) (629)
Change in Fair Value of Hedging

Activities, Net of Tax 9,625 — — — — — 9,625 9,625
Hedging Activities Reclassified into Earnings

from Other Comprehensive Income (5,382) — — — — — (5,382) (5,382)
Additional Pension Liability, Net of Tax (341) — — — — — (341) (341)
Comprehensive Income $ 72,830
Stock Options Exercised, Including 

Income Tax Benefit 2 2,334 — — — — 2,334
Unearned Compensation, Net of Amort. — 891 — — (433) — 458
Stock Proceeds from Shares Sold by GE 

in Stock Offering, Net of Tax — 5,887 — — — — 5,887
Shares Issued in Stock Offering 15 43,524 — — — — 43,539

Balance, December 31, 2005 $ 315 $ 316,426 $ (15,228) $ 343,161 $ (657) $ 3,979 $ 647,996

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

In Thousands of Dollars, Except Shares Outstanding and Per Share Data

In Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Share Data

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For The Year Ended December 31,

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 2005 2004 2003
Net Income $ 69,557 $ 30,435 $ 25,206
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided
from Operating Activities:

Depreciation 31,175 21,061 21,014
Amortization 6,452 552 —
(Benefit of) Provision for Deferred Income Taxes (811) 1,089 2,377
Minority Interest in Earnings of Subsidiaries 3,538 2,395 845
Gain on Sales of Property, Plant, and Equipment (507) (2,380) —
Changes in Assets and Liabilities, Net of Acquisitions:

Receivables (19,222) ( 28,813) (4,582)
Inventories 28,355 (16,481) 6,483
Accounts Payable 23,467 14,483 2,915
Current Liabilities and Other 17,141 15,823 4,707

Net Cash Provided from Operating Activities 112,211 38,164 58,965

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment (28,261) ( 16,281) (17,965)
Business Acquisitions, Net of Cash Acquired 6,561 ( 327,851) (717)
Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 9,907 5,929 259
Other — (306) 1,833

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (11,793) ( 338,509) (16,590)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from Stock Offering 53,026 — —
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt — 116,319 —
Payments of Long-Term Debt (1,285) — (165)
Proceeds from Commercial Paper Borrowings 25,000 — —
Net Borrowings (Repayments) Under Revolving Credit Facility (159,400) 235,500 (27,000)
Repurchase of Common Stock — (12,501) —
Stock Issued Under Option Plans 1,956 848 146
Financing Fees Paid (1,374) (5,851) —
Distributions to Minority Partners (1,315) — —
Dividends Paid to Shareholders (14,730) ( 11,879) (12,014)

Net Cash (Used in) Provided From Financing Activities (98,122) 322,436 (39,033)

Effect of Exchange Rate on Cash (824) 84 167

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,472 22,175 3,509
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 31,275 9,100 5,591
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 32,747 $ 31,275 $ 9,100

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash Paid During the Year For:
Interest $ 21,378 $ 5,981 $ 6,355
Income Taxes 36,670 8,847 3,585
Non-Cash Investing: Issuance of Common Stock in 
Connection with Acquisition — 130,389 —

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In Thousands of Dollars
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For The Three Years Ended December 31, 2005

(1) Nature of Operations
REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION (the “Company”) is a United
States-based multinational corporation. The Company reports in
two segments, the Electrical Segment, with its principal line of
business in electric motors and power generation products and

the Mechanical Segment, with its principal line of business in
mechanical products which control motion and torque. The 
principal markets for the Company’s products and technologies
are within the United States.

Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
the Company and its subsidiaries where the Company owns at
least 50% of the subsidiary’s equity. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates
Management’s best estimates of certain amounts are required 
in preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of title, which
generally occurs upon shipment of the product to the customer.
The pricing of products sold is generally supported by customer
purchase orders, and accounts receivable collection is reasonably
assured at the time of shipment. Estimated discounts and rebates
are recorded as a reduction of sales in the same period revenue 
is recognized. Product returns and credits are estimated and
recorded at the time of shipment based upon historical 
experience. Shipping and handling costs are recorded as revenue
when billed to the customers.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible to cash, present insignificant risk of changes 
in value due to interest rate fluctuations and have original or 
purchased maturities of three months or less.

Receivables
Receivables are stated at estimated net realizable value.
Receivables are comprised of balances due from customers and
other non-trade receivables such as value added tax, employee
advances, deposits with vendors and other receivables, net of 
estimated allowances for uncollectible accounts. In determining
collectibility, historical trends are evaluated and specific customer
issues are reviewed to arrive at appropriate allowances.

Inventories
The approximate percentage distribution between major classes
of inventory is as follows:

December 31,
2005 2004

Raw Material 13% 13%
Work In Process 25% 25%
Finished Goods and Purchased Parts 62% 62%

Inventories are stated at cost, which is not in excess of market.
Cost for approximately 86% of the Company's inventory at
December 31, 2005 and 87% in 2004, was determined using the
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. If all inventories were valued on
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, they would have increased
by $23,995,000 and $17,971,000 as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004, respectively. Material, labor and factory overhead costs are
included in the inventories.

The Company reviews it inventories for excess and obsolete 
products or components. Based on an analysis of historical usage
and management’s evaluation of estimated future demand, 
market conditions and alternative uses for possible excess or
obsolete parts, reserves are recorded or changed.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs,” an amendment of ARB No. 43. The amendments made 
by SFAS No. 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and wasted materials (spoilage)
should be recognized as current-period charges and require the
allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on
the normal capacity of the production facilities. The pronounce-
ment is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for
inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after
November 23, 2004. The adoption of this pronouncement is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of
plant and equipment is provided principally on a straight line
basis over the estimated useful lives of 10 to 45 years for buildings
and improvements, and 3 to 15 years for machinery and equip-
ment. Accelerated methods are used for income tax purposes. The
Company reviews its property, plant and equipment for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

The Company had approximately $5.0 of assets held for sale and
classified as a component of prepaid expenses and other currents
assets at December 31, 2005 related to the Company’s Grafton,
Wisconsin facility which was sold in January 2006. The gain on
the sale was immaterial.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” goodwill is not amortized; however it is 

(2) Accounting Policies
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(2) Accounting Policies (cont’d)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

tested for impairment at least annually with any resulting 
adjustment charged to the results of operations. Amortization is
recorded for intangible assets with definite lives.

Stock-Based Compensation
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004) (“SFAS 123(R)”), “Share-Based Payment.”
SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees,
including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in
the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma
disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial statement 
recognition). The Company has adopted the provisions of the
new standard using the modified prospective method and using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model effective January 1, 2006.
The incremental share-based compensation expense under SFAS
123(R) is estimated to be in the range of $.05 to $.10 per share in
2006, including the impact of options granted in January of 2006.
The ultimate impact of adopting SFAS 123(R) on 2006’s results of
operations and financial position will depend upon many factors
including the level of stock-based compensation granted in 2006,
the fair value of those options which will be determined at the
date of grant, the related tax benefits recorded and the diluted
shares outstanding.

Prior to 2006, the Company followed the accounting provisions 
of APB No. 25 in accounting for its stock option plans. The
Company granted stock options at a price equal to the fair 
value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant 
and, accordingly, no compensation cost was recognized. The 
following table is a reconciliation of the Company’s net income
and earnings per share to proforma net income and proforma
earnings per share for the years ended December 31.

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data)
2005 2004 2003

Net Income:
As Reported $ 69,557 $ 30,435 $ 25,206
Add: Total Stock-based 
Employee Compensation 
Expense Included in Net 
Income, Net of Related 
Tax Effects 362 117 69

Deduct: Total Stock-based 
Employee Compensation 
Expense, Net of Related
Tax Effects (1,690) (839) (497)
Pro Forma $ 68,229 $ 29,713 $ 24,778

Earnings Per Share:
As Reported $ 2.34 $ 1.24 $ 1.01
Pro Forma $ 2.29 $ 1.21 $ .99

Earnings Per Share – 
Assuming Dilution:

As Reported $ 2.25 $ 1.22 $ 1.00
Pro Forma $ 2.22 $ 1.19 $ .98

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.0%, 
4.0% and 3.5%; expected dividend yield of 1.7%, 2.25% and 2.5%;
expected option lives of 7.0 for all years; expected volatility of
28%, 35% and 37%.

Under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, the Company may issue
grants of restricted stock. The value of the grant is amortized as
compensation expense over the vesting period on a straight-line
basis. The unamortized balance is reflected as a component of
shareholder’s investment.

Earnings per Share (EPS) 
Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed and disclosed
under SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”. Diluted earnings per
share is computed based upon earnings applicable to common
shares divided by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period adjusted for the effect of
other dilutive securities. Options for common shares where the
exercise price was above the market price at December 31 have
been excluded from the calculation of effect of dilutive securities
shown below. The amount of these shares was -0-, 62,850 and
714,650 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The following table
reconciles the basic and diluted shares used in the per share 
calculations:

December 31
2005 2004 2003

Denominator for
Basic EPS 29,675,206 24,602,868 25,029,942

Effect of Dilutive
Securities 1,203,775 301,419 216,146

Denominator for
Diluted EPS 30,878,981 24,904,287 25,246,088

Foreign Currency Translation
For those operations using a functional currency other than 
the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars
at year-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are 
translated at weighted-average exchange rates. The resulting
translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of
shareholders’ investment. Gains and losses from foreign currency
transactions are included in net earnings, which were immaterial
in all years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Amortizable Intangible Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. The Company assesses these assets for impair-
ment based on estimated future cash flows from these assets.
Such analyses necessarily involve significant judgment.

Product Warranty Reserves
The Company maintains reserves for product warranty to cover
the stated warranty periods for its products. Such reserves 
are established based on an evaluation of historical warranty
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SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” 
establishes financial accounting and reporting for acquired good-
will and other intangible assets. The Company reports in two 
segments, the Electrical segment and the Mechanical segment.
The Company has elected to perform its annual test for 
impairment during the fourth quarter. The Company utilizes a 
discounted cash flow model to estimate the fair value of the
reporting units. The Company performed its most recent analysis
as of November 30, 2005, and based upon reasonable assumptions
of cash flows and cost of capital, concluded that there continues
to be no impairment of goodwill. The Company believes that all
of the Goodwill recorded as a result of the 2004 and 2005 
acquisitions is deductible for tax purposes. The following 
information presents changes to goodwill during the periods
indicated:

Electrical Mechanical Total
Segment Segment Company

Balance,
December 31, 2003 $ 310,686 $ 530 $ 311,216

Acquisitions 233,224 — 233,224
Balance,

December 31, 2004 543,910 530 544,440
CMT Acquisitions 855 — 855
Final GE Purchase Price

Settlement (12,032) — (12,032)
Final Purchase

Accounting Allocations 12,905 — 12,905
Balance,

December 31, 2005 $ 545,638 $ 530 $ 546,168

(2) Accounting Policies (cont’d)

experience and specific significant warranty matters when they
become known and can reasonably be estimated.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized gains and
losses on derivative instruments and minimum pension liability
adjustments are included in shareholder’s investment under
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The compo-
nents of the ending balances of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) are as follows: 

2005 2004
Additional pension liability, net of tax $ (6,434) $ ( 6,093)
Translation adjustments 5,657 6,286
Hedging activities, net of tax 4,756 513
Total $ 3,979 $ 706

Derivative Instruments
SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that all derivative 
instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and
establishes criteria for designation and effectiveness of the 
hedging relationships. Any fair value changes are recorded in net
earnings or accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

The Company has entered into certain commodity forward 
contracts in connection with the management of its exposure to
fluctuations in certain raw material commodity pricing. These
derivative instruments have been designated as cash flow hedges.
The entire value of these hedges at December 31, 2005, which is
shown above in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(“AOCI”), is expected to be realized in 2006.

Legal and Environmental Claims
The Company records expenses and liabilities when the
Company believes that an obligation of the Company on a 

specific matter is probable and there is a basis to reasonably 
estimate the value of the obligation. This methodology is used 
for environmental matters and legal claims that are filed 
against the Company from time to time. The uncertainty that is
associated with such matters frequently requires adjustments to
the liabilities previously recorded.

Life Insurance Policies 
The Company maintains life insurance policies on certain officers
and management which name the Company as beneficiary. The
total face value of these policies was $12,065,000 at December 31,
2005 and $11,008,000 at December 31, 2004. The cash surrender
value, net of policy loans, is $1,605,000 and $3,315,000 at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included as a
component of Other Noncurrent Assets.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts reported in prior periods have been reclassified
to conform to the 2005 presentation. The reclassification did not
impact the Company’s net income or net income per share.

Fair Values
The fair values of cash equivalents, receivables, inventories,
accounts payable, commercial paper borrowings and accrued
expenses approximate the carrying values due to the short period
of time to maturity. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated
using discounted cash flows based on the Company’s current
incremental borrowing rates or dealer quotes and the fair value of
derivative instruments is determined based on dealer quotes.

(3) Goodwill and Other Intangibles
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Long-term debt consists of the following:
(In Thousands of Dollars)

December 31,
2005 2004

Revolving Credit Facility $ 267,100 $ 426,500
Convertible Senior 

Subordinated Debt 115,000 115,000
Other 4,916 6,121

387,016 547,621
Less: Current Maturities 684 271
Noncurrent portion $ 386,332 $ 547,350

The Company maintained at December 31, 2005, a $475,000,000
unsecured revolving credit facility which terminates May 5, 
2009 (the “Facility”). The Company has the right to increase the
facility up to $550 million, subject to achievement of certain
approvals and covenants. The Facility permits the Company to
borrow at interest rates based upon a margin above LIBOR, which
margin varies with the ratio of debt to earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). These interest
rates also vary with LIBOR. The Company also pays a commit-

ment fee on the unused amount of the $475,000,000 maximum
credit limit, which fee rate also varies with the debt to EBITDA
ratio. The Facility includes various financial covenants regarding
minimum net worth, permitted debt levels and minimum interest
coverage. Those tests consist of a minimum interest coverage ratio
of 3.75 to 1, a maximum funded debt to EBITDA ratio of 4.00 to 1
decreasing to 3.75:1 at December 31, 2006, a maximum senior
funded debt to EBITDA ratio of 3.00 to 1 decreasing to 2.75:1 
at December 31, 2006, and a minimum net worth consisting 
of the sum of $435.0 million plus 50% of net income for each 
quarter ending on or after March 31, 2005 plus 75% of the net 
proceeds of all issuances of equity securities by the Company. 
The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as
of December 31, 2005.

The average balance outstanding under the Facility in 2005 was
$395,969,000 and in 2004 was $150,596,000. The average interest
rate paid under the Facility was 4.7% in 2005 and 2.7% in 2004. 
At December 31, 2005, the interest rate paid on the outstanding 
balance of the Facility was 5.2%. The Company also paid an
unused commitment fee under the facility which was .20% of the

Rental expenses charged to operations amounted to $8,114,000 in
2005, $6,568,000 in 2004 and $7,097,000 in 2003. The Company has
future minimum rental commitments under operating leases as
shown in the following table:

Year (In Thousands of Dollars)
2006 $ 6,170
2007 5,454
2008 4,685
2009 2,297
2010 1,692

Thereafter 4,041

(4) Leases and Rental Commitments

(5) Debt and Bank Credit Facilities

The “Final GE Purchase Price Settlement” represents cash
received in 2005 related to working capital and other contractual
adjustments agreed to by the parties to adjust the purchase price
for the differential between the preliminary net asset statement
and the final net asset statement.

The “Final Purchase Accounting Allocation” represents the
Company’s final valuation adjustments related to acquired assets.
These adjustments related primarily to the valuation of inventories.

The following intangible assets were recorded as a result of the
2004 acquisitions described in Note 10. The amounts allocated to
intangible assets were determined by independent appraisals.
Also see Note 10 for the useful lives of the intangible assets shown
below. 

Summary of Intangible Assets with Definite Lives
(In Thousands of Dollars) December 31, 2005

Gross Accumulated
Asset Description Value Amortization Net

Non-Compete Agreements $    2,440 $ 520 $    1,920
Trademarks 4,960 1,760 3,200
Patents 15,410 1,565 13,845
Engineering Drawings 1,200 127 1,073
Customer Relationships 28,600 2,964 25,636
Total $  52,610 $ 6,936 $  45,674

(In Thousands of Dollars) December 31, 2004
Gross Accumulated

Asset Description Value Amortization Net
Non-Compete Agreements $   2,440 $ 33 $   2,407
Trademarks 4,960 386 4,574
Patents 15,410 23 15,387
Engineering Drawings 1,200 7 1,193
Customer Relationships 28,600 103 28,497
Total $  52,610 $ 552 $ 52,058

Estimated Future Amortization
2006 $ 6,384,000
2007 6,380,000
2008 5,238,000
2009 5,205,000
2010 4,522,000

Thereafter 17,945,000

(3) Goodwill and Other Intangibles (cont’d)
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An action was filed on June 4, 2004, and amended in September
2004, against one of the Company’s subsidiaries, Marathon
Electric Manufacturing Corporation (“Marathon”), by Enron
Wind Energy Systems, LLC, Enron Wind Contractors, LLC and
Zond Minnesota Construction Company, LLC (collectively,
“Enron Wind”). The action was filed in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York where
each of the Enron Wind entities has consolidated its Chapter 11
bankruptcy petition as part of the Enron Corporation bankruptcy
proceedings. In the action against Marathon, Enron Wind has
asserted various claims relating to the alleged failures and/or
degradations of performance of 564 generators sold by Marathon
to Enron Wind from 1997 to 1999. In January 2001, Enron Wind
and Marathon entered into a “Generator Warranty and Settlement
Agreement and Release of All Claims” (“Warranty Agreement”).
This Warranty Agreement resolved various issues related to past
performance of the generators, provided a limited warranty 
related to the generators going forward, and contained a release
by all parties of any claims related to the generators other than
those arising out of the obligations contained in the Warranty
Agreement.

Enron Wind is seeking to recover the purchase price of the 
generators and transportation costs totaling about $21 million. In
addition, although the Warranty Agreement contains a waiver of
consequential, incidental, and punitive damages, Enron Wind
claims that this limitation is unenforceable and seeks recovery of

consequential, incidental and punitive damages incurred by it
and by its customers, totaling an additional $100 million. Enron
Wind has asserted claims of breach of contract, breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, promissory
fraud, and intentional interference with contractual relations.
Marathon has filed a motion with the court seeking to have many
of Enron Wind’s claims dismissed. Enron Wind recently has filed
a motion with the court seeking a declaration that Marathon 
had an obligation under the Warranty Agreement to repair or
replace the generators in the first instance regardless of whether
an actual breach of warranty had occurred. The court has held
hearings on both motions, but has not yet ruled.

The Company believes that this action is without merit and that it
has meritorious defenses to the action. The Company intends to
defend vigorously all of the asserted claims. The litigation is in 
an early discovery phase and it is difficult for the Company to
predict the impact the litigation may ultimately have on the
Company’s results of operations or financial condition, including
the expenses the Company may incur to defend against the
action. As of December 31, 2005, the Company has accrued for
anticipated costs in defending against this matter and such 
accumulated reserves as of December 31, 2005 are immaterial.

From time to time, the Company, in the normal course of 
business, is involved in various claims and legal actions arising
out of its operations. The Company does not believe that the 

(6) Contingencies and Commitments

unused balance of $211,448,000 at December 31, 2005. The
Company had $175,799,000 of available borrowing capacity under
the Facility at December 31, 2005.

The Company, at December 31, 2005, also had $115,000,000 of 
convertible senior subordinated notes outstanding, which were
issued on April 5, 2004. The notes, which are unsecured and due
in 2024, bear interest at a fixed rate of 2.75% for five years, and
may increase thereafter at .25% of the average trading price of a
note if certain conditions are met after five years. The Company
may not call the notes for five years, and the note holders may
only put the notes back to the Company at approximately the 5th,
10th and 15th year anniversaries of the issuance of the notes. In the
table below the maturity of these convertible notes is shown in
2009, when the first put and call dates occur, reflecting the likeli-
hood, in the opinion of the Company, when the notes will mature.
In October 2004, the Company amended the indenture to 
eliminate its option to issue stock upon a conversion request, and
require the Company to pay only cash, up to the $115,000,000 par
value of the notes. The Company retained the option to either pay
cash, issue its stock or a combination thereof, for value above par,
which is above the $25.56 stock conversion price. With the change
to the indenture, the Company qualified for the Treasury Stock
method of accounting for this convertible debt in accordance with
EITF 04-8, “The Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on
Diluted Earnings per Share”. 

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company
for bank loans and for convertible senior subordinated debt, the
fair market value of the long-term debt is not materially different
from the carrying value. 

Maturities of long-term debt are as follows:
Year (In Thousands of Dollars)

2006 $ 684
2007 894
2008 228
2009 382,172
2010 38

Thereafter 3,000
Total $ 387,016

In addition to the long-term debt shown above, the Company had
$25,000,000 of unrated commercial paper outstanding through a
$35,000,000 facility (the “CP Facility”) established in December
2005 with one of its banks. The CP Facility is unsecured and 
may be withdrawn by the bank at any time. The Company is
required by the bank to maintain unused capacity in its long-
term revolving credit facility at least equal to the amount of 
outstanding commercial paper. The CP Facility permits sales of
paper for periods up to 180 days. At December 31, 2005, the
weighted average term for the outstanding commercial paper was
53 days and the weighted average interest rate was 4.5%.

(5) Debt and Bank Credit Facilities (cont’d)
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(7) Retirement Plans

ultimate disposition of any currently pending claims or actions
would have a material adverse effect on the Company or its 
financial condition.

The Company is, from time to time, party to lawsuits arising from
its normal business operations. It is believed that the outcome of
these lawsuits will have no material effect on the Company’s
financial position or its results of operations.

The Company recognizes the cost associated with its standard
warranty on its products at the time of sale. The amount 
recognized is based on historical experience. The following is 
a reconciliation of the changes in accrued warranty costs for 
2005 and 2004:

(In Thousands of Dollars)
2005 2004

Balance, Beginning of Year $ (5,007) $ (2,953)
Payments 5,925 5,325
Provision (6,597) (5,545)
Additions from Acquisitions –– (1,834)
Balance, End of Year $ (5,679) $ (5,007)

Provision for virtually all warranties is made in the year of
issuance.

(6) Contingencies and Commitments (cont’d)

The Company has a number of retirement plans that cover 
most of its domestic employees. Most foreign employees are 
covered by government sponsored plans in the countries in
which they are employed. The domestic employee plans include
defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. The
defined contribution plans provide for Company contributions
based, depending on the plan, upon one or more of participant
contributions, service and profits. Company contributions to
defined contribution plans totaled $4,329,000, $4,455,000, and
$2,283,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Benefits provided under defined benefit plans are based,
depending on the plan, on employees’ average earnings and
years of credited service, or a benefit multiplier times years of
service. Funding of these qualified defined benefit plans is in
accordance with federal laws and regulations.

The Company’s defined benefit pension assets are invested in
equity securities and fixed income investments based on the
Company’s overall strategic investment direction as follows:

Target
Allocation Return

Equity Investments 70% 9-10%
Fixed Income 30% 5.5 - 6.5%
Total 100% 8.75%

The Company’s investment strategy for its defined benefit plans
is to achieve moderately aggressive growth, earning a long-
term rate of return sufficient to at least maintain the plans in a
fully funded status. Accordingly, allocation targets have been
established to fit this strategy, with a heavier long-term 
weighting of investments in equity securities. The long-term rate
of return assumptions considers historic returns and volatilities
adjusted for changes in overall economic conditions that may
affect future returns and a weighting of each investment class.

The defined benefit pension plan assets were invested as follows
as of December 31 of each year:

2005 2004
Equity Investments 75% 73%
Fixed Income 25% 27%
Total 100% 100%

In 2003, the Company changed for financial reporting purposes
the actuarial valuation measurement date for its pension plans
from September 30 to December 31. Management believes that a
measurement date of December 31 is preferable because it better
reflects the actual balances of the plans as of the Company’s 
balance sheet date. This change did not have a significant effect
on 2003 pension expense.

The actuarial computations utilized the following assumptions:

Benefit Obligation 2005 2004
Discount Rate 5.75% 5.75%
Rates of Increase in Compensation Level 0-2.75% 0-2.75%

Net Periodic Pension Cost 2005 2004 2003
Discount Rate 5.75% 6.25% 7.0%
Expected Long-term Rate of 

Return on Assets 8.75% 8.75% 8.75%
Rates of Increase in 

Compensation Levels 0-2.75% 0-2.5% 0-3.0%
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Net periodic pension benefit costs for the defined benefit plans
were as follows:

(In Thousands of Dollars)
2005 2004 2003

Service Cost $ 3,617 $ 3,552 $ 1,389
Interest Cost 4,020 4,009 3,346
Expected Return on 

Plan Assets (4,530) (4,335) (4,717)
Net Amortization 

and Deferral 1,123 1,083 172
Net Periodic 

Expense $ 4,230 $ 4,309 $ 190

The following table presents a reconciliation of the funded status
of the defined benefit plans:

(In Thousands of Dollars)
2005 2004

Change in Projected 
Benefit Obligation:
Obligation at Beginning of Period $ 66,816 $ 60,372
Service Cost 3,617 3,552
Interest Cost 4,020 4,009
Actuarial Loss 3,767 680
Plan Amendments 10 310
Benefits Paid (2,204) (2,107)
Obligation at End of Period 76,026 66,816

Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets:
Fair Value of Plan Assets at 

Beginning of Period 54,007 49,935
Actual Return on 

Plan Assets 3,170 4,844
Employer Contributions 725 1,335
Benefits Paid (2,204) (2,107)
Fair Value of Plan Assets

at End of Period 55,698 54,007
Funded Status (20,328) (12,809)
Unrecognized Net Actuarial

Loss 20,879 16,780
Unrecognized Prior 

Service Costs 1,301 1,408
Net Amount Recognized $ 1,852 $ 5,379

Amounts Recognized in 
Balance Sheets:

Prepaid Benefit Cost $ 6,421 $ 8,399
Accrued Benefit Liability (16,485) (14,344)
Intangible Asset 1,530 1,654
Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Loss 10,386 9,670
Net Amount Recognized $ 1,852 $ 5,379

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation
and fair value of plan assets for the defined benefit plans with
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were
$36,971,000, $35,926,000 and $19,844,000 respectively, as of
December 31, 2005, and $33,511,000, $33,319,000 and $19,339,000,
respectively, as of December 31, 2004. Total accumulated benefit
obligations for all defined benefit plans totaled $70,790,000, and
$62,851,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The
Company estimates that, in 2006, it will make contributions in the
amount of $1,671,000 to fund its defined benefit plans. 

The following pension payments, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

(In Thousands of Dollars)

Expected
Year Payments
2006 $   2,430
2007 3,029
2008 3,342
2009 3,621
2010 3,937

2011-2015 24,577

(7) Retirement Plans (cont’d)
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2005 2004 2003
Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at Beginning of Year 1,555,584 $ 21.53 1,282,618 $ 21.22 1,125,754 $ 21.98
Granted 372,000 29.88 382,500 20.77 233,750 17.70
Exercised (98,667) 20.11 (51,034) 16.56 (11,586) 12.59
Forfeited (30,600) 24.45 (58,500) 20.03 (65,300) 19.58
Outstanding at End of Year 1,798,317 $ 23.27 1,555,584 $ 21.53 1,282,618 $ 21.22
Options Exercisable at Year-end 1,138,717 919,534 823,168
Weighted-average Fair Value of

Options Granted During the Year $10.41 $6.96 $5.55

(8) Shareholders’ Investment

The Company has two stock option plans available for new
grants to officers, directors and key employees, the 2003 Equity
Incentive Plan and the 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended.
Additionally, the Company’s 1991 Flexible Stock Incentive Plan
and the 1987 Stock Option Plan, which have expired as to new
grants, have shares previously granted remaining outstanding.
Options under all the plans were granted at prices that equaled
the market value on the date of the grant and with a maximum
term of 10 years from the date of grant. Options vest over various
periods up to 10 years. 

Grants of restricted stock, which vest three years from the 
grant date given continuous employment over the three years 
is attained, have been awarded to certain officers and key
employees under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan. There were

44,175 shares of restricted stock outstanding at December 31, 2005
as compared to 14,175 shares at December 31, 2004. Unamortized
deferred compensation expense with respect to the restricted
stock grants amounted to $657,000 at December 31, 2005 and is
being amortized over a three year vesting period. This compares
to $224,000 at December 31, 2004. Deferred compensation expense
aggregated $458,000 in 2005 versus $64,000 in 2004.

A summary of restricted stock granted for the years 2005 and 2004
is as follows:

2005 2004
Shares Granted 30,000 14,175
Weighted-Average Fair Value of 

Restricted Shares Granted During Year $29.75 $20.30

At December 31, 2005
1987 Plan 1991 Plan 1998 Plan 2003 Plan

Total Plan Shares 450,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,500,000
Options Granted 449,850 762,882 1,118,900 621,500
Restricted Stock Granted — — — 44,175
Options Outstanding 2,000 269,017 950,550 573,250
Restricted Stock Outstanding — — — 44,175
Options Available for Grant — — 500 874,575

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as
of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and changes during the
years then ended is presented below:

A summary of the Company’s stock option plans follows:
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(8) Shareholders’ Investment (cont’d)

On January 28, 2000, the Board of Directors approved a
Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Plan”). Pursuant to this Plan, 
one common share purchase right is included with each 
outstanding share of common stock. In the event the rights
become exercisable, each right will initially entitle its holder to
buy one-half of one share of the Company’s common stock at 
a price of $60 per share (equivalent to $30 per one-half share), 
subject to adjustment. The rights will become exercisable if a 
person or group acquires, or announces an offer for, 15% or 
more of the Company’s common stock. In this event, each right
will thereafter entitle the holder to purchase, at the right’s 
then-current exercise price, common stock of the Company or,
depending on the circumstances, common stock of the acquiring
corporation having a market value of twice the full share exercise
price. The rights may be redeemed by the Company at a price 
of one-tenth of one cent per right at any time prior to the time 
a person or group acquires 15% or more, of the Company’s 
common stock. The rights expire on January 28, 2010, unless 
otherwise extended.

The Board of Directors approved in 2000 a repurchase program of
up to 2,000,000 common shares of Company stock. Management
was authorized to effect purchases from time to time in the 
open market or through privately negotiated transactions. In
April 2004, in association with the Company’s convertible 
subordinated debt offering, the Company repurchased 614,200
shares of its stock at a price of $20.35. Through December 31, 
2005, the Company has repurchased 774,100 shares at an average 
purchase price of $19.67 per share.

In August 2005 the Company completed an offering of its 
common stock. The Company issued 1,530,321 primary shares of
common stock and received net proceeds of $43.7 million, which
proceeds were used to repay a like amount of long-term debt.
Additionally, the Company received $9.3 million from General
Electric’s (“GE”) net proceeds from the sale in the same August
offering of all 4,559,048 shares GE received from the Company on
December 31, 2004 as part of the Company’s acquisition price of
GE’s HVAC motors and capacitors business. The $9.3 million was
paid by GE to the Company under a shareholder agreement
between GE and the Company filed with the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 6, 2005.

The following table provides information on the three Plans at 
various exercise price ranges:

Range of Exercise Prices
$15.75-$20.74 $20.75-$25.74 $25.75-$30.74 $30.75-$35.84 Total

Options Outstanding at 12/31/05 620,867 724,000 396,600 56,850 1,798,317
Weighted-Average Remaining 

Contractual Life (Years) 6.6 3.7 7.5 8.7 5.7
Weighted-Average Exercise Price $ 18.94 $ 23.05 $ 28.56 $ 33.25 $ 23.17
Options Exercisable at 12/31/05 443,267 547,250 136,100 12,100 1,138,717
Weighted-Average Exercise Price $ 18.44 $ 23.10 $ 28.76 $ 32.64 $ 22.07
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Income before income taxes and minority interest consisted of the 
following:

(In Thousands of Dollars)

2005 2004 2003
United States $ 88,714 $ 36,689 $ 36,076
Foreign 24,210 11,869 4,767
Total $ 112,924 $ 48,558 $ 40,843

The provision for (benefit of) income taxes is summarized as 
follows:

(In Thousands of Dollars)

Current 2005 2004 2003
Federal $ 32,560 $ 9,565 $ 9,990
State 4,332 1,181 1,009
Foreign 3,748 3,893 1,416

40,640 14,639 12,415
Deferred (811) 1,089 2,377
Total $ 39,829 $ 15,728 $ 14,792

A reconciliation of the statutory Federal income tax rate and the
effective tax rate reflected in the statements of income follows:

2005 2004 2003
Federal Statutory 

Tax Rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State Income Taxes, Net 

of Federal Benefit 2.4 1.4 1.6
Domestic Production

Activities Deduction (0.5) — —
Resolution of Tax Matters — (4.3) —
Impact of UK 

Property Sale — (1.0) —
Other, Net (1.6) 1.3 ( 0.4)
Effective Tax Rate 35.3% 32.4% 36.2%

In 2005, the Company recognized a favorable income tax impact
from the Domestic Production Activities Deduction as a result 
of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. In 2004, the 
Company realized a favorable income tax impact primarily from
the resolution of federal and state tax audits. 

Deferred taxes arise primarily from differences in amounts
reported for tax and financial statement purposes. The
Company's net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2005 of
$43,015,000 is classified on the consolidated balance sheet as a
current income tax benefit of $16,978,000 and a long-term
deferred income tax liability of $59,993,000. The December 31,
2004 net deferred tax liability was $42,170,000, consisting of a 
current income tax benefit of $6,493,000 and a long-term deferred
income tax liability of $48,663,000. The components of this net
deferred tax liability are as follows:

(In Thousands of Dollars)
December 31

2005 2004
Accrued Employee Benefits $ 9,781 $ 6,850
Bad Debt Reserve 748 380
Warranty Reserve 1,871 810
Other 5,490 4,475
Deferred Tax Assets 17,890 12,515

Property Related (25,553) (26,464)
Intangible Items (28,089) (19,655)
Inventory (1,263) (4,720)
Derivative Instruments (2,247) (314)
Other (3,753) (3,532)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (60,905) (54,685)
Net Deferred Tax Liability $ (43,015) $ (42,170)

No valuation allowances were recorded at December 31, 2005 and
2004.

No U.S. deferred taxes have been provided on the undistributed
non-U.S. subsidiary earnings that are considered to be 
permanently invested. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the 
estimated amount of total unremitted non-U.S. subsidiary 
earnings was $16.7 million and $16.8 million, respectively.

(9) Income Taxes

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
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(10) Acquisitions

On February 7, 2005, the Company acquired 95% ownership of
Changzhou Modern Technologies Co., Ltd. (“CMT”). CMT is
located in Changzhou, P.R. of China and produces fractional 
electric motors. The purchase price was $3.23 million and is being
paid over a three year period.

On August 30, 2004, the Company acquired the Commercial AC
motors (“CAC”) business from the General Electric Company.
This acquisition expanded the Company’s product offering
through extensions of existing product lines and new product
applications into existing and new market segments. The 
CAC business customer base also expanded the Company’s OEM
and distributor relationships. In addition to the acquisition of the
CAC business, the Company also assumed certain liabilities,
including but not limited to accounts payable, certain accrued
compensation and benefits and certain other accrued expenses.
The purchase price paid for the CAC business was approximately
$72.3 million in cash.

The CAC business is a leading manufacturer and marketer of 
a full line of fractional and subfractional AC electric motors 
for pump, compressor, equipment and commercial HVAC appli-
cations. Included in the acquisition were motor manufacturing 
facilities in Juarez, Mexico and technology resources in
Hyderabad, India. CAC financial results in the Electrical segment
since the date of acquisition.

At 11:59 p.m. on December 31, 2004, the Company acquired the
HVAC motors and capacitors businesses from General Electric
Company. This acquisition provided the Company a leading 
market position in electric motors used in central heating and air
conditioning and expansion of the Company’s customer base to
include major HVAC original equipment manufacturers. The 
purchase price paid for the HVAC business was $387.0 million.
The purchase price consisted of approximately $257.0 million in
cash and 4,559,048 shares of common stock of the Company
which was valued at approximately $130.0 million as of the 
closing date. 

The HVAC motor business produces a full line of electric 
motors for use in residential and commercial HVAC systems. The 
capacitors business produces a line of capacitors used in HVAC
applications, high intensity lighting and other applications.
Results for the HVAC business are included in the Electrical 
segment since the date of acquisition. Included in the acquisition
were motor manufacturing facilities in Faridabad, India; Reynosa,
Mexico; and Springfield, Missouri; and a capacitor manufacturing
facility in Juarez, Mexico. The acquired CAC and HVAC 
also maintain technology development, administrative and sales 
support teams in Fort Wayne, Indiana and electric motor 
engineering resources located in Hyderabad, India.

In connection with the GE acquisitions, the Company and GE
entered into various supply, transition services, and sales 
agreements. These agreements are related to transition support 
in areas such as warehousing, computer systems, and accounting

services. The duration of the various agreements ranges from 
six months to three years, depending on the specific agreement. 
On August 11, 2005, GE sold all of the shares of the Company’s
common stock owned by it, ceasing to be a related party to the
Company. The amount paid to GE through August 10, 2005, 
for trade payables, transition services and other payables of the
businesses acquired from GE in 2004, was $102.4 million. This
compares to $38.4 million for the four months for which we
owned the CAC business in 2004. The amount expensed in this
same period for transition services was $10.8 million, which was
recorded in operating expenses. This compares to $1.6 million for
the four months for which we owned the CAC business in 2004.

The Company recorded $234.1 million of Goodwill as a result 
of the acquisitions, all of which is believed to be deductible for 
tax purposes.

Acquired Balance Sheet Summary ($ thousands)
At At

Aug. 30, 2004 Dec. 31, 2004
CAC HVAC

Cash $ 214 $ 14,735
Accounts Receivable 20,723 45,518
Inventory 22,228 62,196
Prepaid and Other Current Assets 1,254 621

Total Current Assets 44,419 123,070
Net Property, Plant, & Equipment 22,975 76,077
Goodwill 19,333 214,735
Purchased Intangible Assets 8,300 44,310
Other Non-Current Assets — 4,101

Total Assets $ 95,027 $ 462,293
Accounts Payable $ 10,219 $ 33,734
Other Liabilities 12,508 41,539
Shareholders’ Equity 72,300 387,020

Total Liabilities & Equity $ 95,027 $ 462,293

Summary of Intangible Assets With Definite Lives ($ millions)
Asset Description CAC HVAC Total Useful Life

Non-Compete Agreements $ 0.6 $ 2.0 $ 2.4 5 Years
Trademarks 3.7 1.1 5.0 3-5 Years
Patents 0.7 14.7 15.4 9-10.5 Years
Engineering Drawings 0.2 1.0 1.2 10 Years
Customer Relationships 3.1 25.5 28.6 10 Years

Total $ 8.3 $ 44.3 $ 52.6

In November 2002, the Company entered into an agreement 
to form a joint venture effective January 1, 2003, with Shanghai
Jinling Co., Ltd. The Company acquired, for a combination 
of cash and investment of machinery and technology, a 50% 
ownership in Shanghai Micro Motor, Shanghai Jinling’s 
sub-fractional and fractional motor company, which was already
a supplier to the Company. The purchased assets are not material
to the financial position of the Company.
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The Company periodically enters into commodity futures and
options hedging transactions to reduce the impact of changing
prices for certain commodities such as copper and aluminum
based upon certain firm commitments to purchase such 
commodities. These transactions are designated as cash flow
hedges and the contract terms of commodity hedge instruments
generally mirror those of the hedged item, providing a high
degree of risk reduction and correlation. At December 31, 2005,
the Company did not have any open copper contracts. At
December 31, 2005, the Company had aluminum swap contracts
providing for 6.9 million pounds of aluminum with a market
value of $1.0 million. 

The Company uses a cash hedging strategy to protect against an
increase in the cost of forecasted foreign currency denominated
transactions, specifically related to the Mexican Peso and Indian
Rupee. The Company hedges a portion of its forecasted Peso and
Rupee transactions with forward contracts. When the U.S. dollar
weakens against the Peso or Rupee, increased foreign currency
payments are offset by gains in the value of the forward contracts.
Conversely, when the U.S. dollar strengthens against the Peso or

Rupee, reduced foreign currency payments are offset by losses in
the value of the forward contracts. At December 31, 2005, the
Rupee forward contract notional value was $3.7 million and fair
market value was $38,000 net of tax. Peso contracts at December
31, 2005 have an after-tax fair market value of $838,000 with a
notional value of $28,800,000. 

At December 31, 2005, the effective portion of the change in the
fair value of cash flow derivatives is recorded in AOCI. The fair
market value of the contracts with gains has been recognized in
“Prepaid and Other Current Assets” and the contract with losses
has been recognized in “Other Current Liabilities.” When hedged
items impact the income statement, the gain or loss included in
AOCI is reported in the same line in the Consolidated Statements
of Income as the hedged item. The entire net unrealized gain 
of $4,756,000 in AOCI at December 31, 2005 is expected to be 
realized in 2006.

The impact of commodity hedging contacts in 2004 was 
immaterial. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was also immaterial.

(11) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic businesses that
offer different products and services. The Company has two such
reportable segments: Electrical and Mechanical. The Electrical
segment principally produces electric motors and power genera-
tion equipment for sale to original equipment manufacturers and
distributors. The Mechanical segment principally produces
mechanical products that control motion and torque for sale to
original equipment manufacturers and distributors.

The Company evaluates performance based on the segment’s
income from operations. Corporate costs have been allocated to

each segment based primarily on the net sales of each segment.
The reported net sales of each segment are solely from external
customers. The Company’s products manufactured and sold 
outside the United States were approximately 10%, 14% and 12%
of net sales in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Export sales from
U.S. operations were approximately 5%, 7% and 5% in 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively.

Pertinent data for each reportable segment in which the 
Company operated for the three years ended December 31, 2005
is as follows:

(In Thousands of Dollars)

Net Income From Identifiable Capital Depreciation and
Sales Operations Assets Expenditures Amortization

2005
Electrical $ 1,227,696 $ 118,528 $ 1,215,953 $ 23,491 $ 30,676
Mechanical 201,011 16,044 126,601 4,770 6,951
Total REGAL-BELOIT $ 1,428,707 $ 134,572 $ 1,342,554 $ 28,261 $ 37,627

2004
Electrical $ 556,967 $ 39,442 $ 1,211,889 $ 8,873 $ 13,823
Mechanical 199,590 15,720 140,163 7,408 7,790
Total REGAL-BELOIT $ 756,557 $ 55,162 $ 1,352,052 $ 16,281 $ 21,613

2003
Electrical $ 438,357 $ 33,877 $ 612,469 $ 11,736 $ 13,641
Mechanical 180,741 13,349 121,976 6,229 7,373
Total REGAL-BELOIT $ 619,098 $ 47,226 $ 734,445 $ 17,965 $ 21,014

(12) Industry Segment Information

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM AND MANAGEMENT

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION and subsidiaries (the

“Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ investment and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of REGAL-BELOIT
CORPORATION and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our 
report dated March 7, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
March 7, 2006 Deloitte & Touche LLP

Management’s Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION (the “Company”) is responsible for the accuracy and internal consistency of
the preparation consolidated financial statements and footnotes contained in this annual report.

The Company’s management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION operates under a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of published financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. The internal accounting control system is evaluated for effectiveness by management and is tested,
monitored and revised as necessary. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation
and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005. In making its assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on the results of its evaluation, the Company’s
management concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
those criteria.

The Company’s independent auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have audited the financial statements prepared by the management of
REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION and management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting.

Henry W. Knueppel David A. Barta
Chief Executive Officer Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
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To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting, that REGAL-BELOIT CORPORATION and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the 
risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated March 7, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
March 7, 2006 Deloitte & Touche LLP

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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